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REPORT OF THE GENERAL COMMITTEE (For the year ended 31 Deccmber, 1999)

The General Committee has pleasure in
presenting its report together with the
accounts for the year ended 31
December, 1999.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The role of the Chamber is to promote,
represent and safeguard the interests of
the Hong Kong business community.

ACCOUNTS

The state of the Chamber’s affairs at 31%
December, 1999 and the result for the
year ended are set out in the accounts on
pages 28-35.

ASSETS
Details of the movements in assets are
shown in notes 2-5 and 7 to the accounts.
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GENERAL COMMITTEE MEMBERS
The General Committee Members who
held office during the year are set out on
Page 1. No Member of the General
Committee, or any other Members of the
Chamber, received any form of
remuneration in return for their services,
other than normal professional or similar
fees paid for services or supplies rendered
to the Chamber and no portion of the
income or property of the Chamber was
paid or transferred directly or indirectly
by way of dividend, bonus or otherwise
to Members of the Chamber.

INTEREST IN CONTRACTS

No contract of significance to which the
Chamber was a party and in which a
General Committee Member had a
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material interest subsisted at the end of
the year nor at any time during the year.

AUDITORS

A resolution for the re-appointment of
KPMG as auditors of the Chamber is to
be proposed at the forthcoming annual
general meeting.

By Order of the General Committee,

Mr C CTung
Chairman
on 14 Marck 2000
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The Hong Kong General Chamber of Commerce

CHAIRMAN'S REVIEW

he Hong Kong Special
I Administrative Region of the
People's Republic of China made
important economic progress in the 1999
calendar year, perhaps even more than itis
possible to judge so soon after the end of
the year. From some future date we may
come to view the year as another one of
those turning points in Hong Kong's
modern history of almost unbroken
economic and business advancement.

Importantly, the SAR managed to
emerge in good shape from 15 months of
recession. Its most productive business
activities of recent years either recovered or
stabilised during the year. Perhaps the most
important advance, however, was seeing the
foundations set for a new business future in
a 21st century dominated by globalisation
and cyberspace.

In such circumstances, it is a pleasure
to be able to present members with the
Chamber's annual report and review for the
1999 calendar year, my first as Chamber
Chairman. All the more so, as it is apparent
that as the local economy recovered
throughout the year, so did the major
business activities of the Chamber. This is
important to all Chamber members.
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C C Tung, Chamber Chairman
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It is now clear that the year under
review was a far better one for the Hong
Kong SAR than anyone would have
expected at its opening. Despite a sluggish
start after the dramatic downturn in 1998,
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economic and business activity picked up
throughout 1999, although the
improvement was far more marked in the
second six months of the year than it was
in the first.

This improvement has continued into
the 2000 Millennial Year. At the start of
this new era, therefore, the Hong Kong
SAR has again shown the ability to renew
itself after an economic setback and fast
adapt itself to the new realities of the
international business scene. So, too, has
the Chamber in its own operations.

There will be challenges ahead in the
new era of information technology, e-
commerce and continuing globalisation,
butHongKongis now ready to tackle them
and continue its long history of growth and
prosperity. The SAR has "logged on" to the
business core of the information and
communications age.

Similarly, the Chamber has had to adapt
to the new economic and business
conditions. To cope with economic
downturn, it rationalised and refocused its
activities to become more effective and
efficient in the provision of its services to
members. This process will continue as it
strives to better serve us all.
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At the same time, the Chamber has
more thoroughly embraced the new era of
information technology and the Internet. It
continually upgraded its in-house computer
systems during the year and revamped its
own Web site, both in terms of content and
style, to make it more attractive and easier
to use for local, regional and global users.

Inallits activities, the Chamber sought
to continue to fullfil its mission statement
to its members and the broader community:
"To promote, represent and safeguard the
interests of the Hong Kong business
community.” This has enabled it to
maintain its solid membership base and
produce a financial result that should be
satisfactory to members in what was still a
difficult year.

Chamber Activities

The Chamber had an extraordinarily
busy year in 1999 as it sought to respond to
members' needs as the economy emerged
from recession. Looking back, it is apparent
that the Chamber not only did more of what
might be termed its normal business but, like
the Hong Kong economy, struck out in new
directions as well. I will just touch on some
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of the major events here, leaving details to
the Director's Report and the divisional
briefings contained elsewhere in this report.

Among the highlights of the year were,
once again, the General Committee's
annual visit to Beijing, the Chamber's
annual meeting, its submissions on the
government's Budget and the Chief
Executive's Policy Address, the Sixth
Annual Business Summit and the second
Business Prospects Survey.

The Beijing visit was again highly
successful withthe Hong Kong delegation
meeting with Vice Premier Li Lanaqing,
several ministers and senior government
officials.

There were also some events unique
to the year. These included the launch of
the Chamber's Mandatory Provident Fund
(MPF) business alliance with CMG Asia
Limited and the completion of a detailed
study of the ramifications for SAR
businesses of the mainland's imminent
entry to the World Trade Organisation
(WTQO). This report was publicly released
at the beginning of the year 2000.

The Chamber also organised the 32nd
International General Meeting (IGM) of the
Pacific Basin Economic Council (PBEC)
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in May. (The Chamber acts as the PBEC
Hong Kong Secretariat and former
Chamber Chairman, Dr Helmut Sohmen,
is currently the international chairman of
PBEC.)

Some of the other highlights of the year
included a review of the Chamber
committee system and the Chamber's key
role in the establishment of both the
Business Coalition on the Environment and
the Business Coalition on Education.
Through its various divisions the Chamber
also made a number of submissions to the
government on specific issues of local
business interest.

Members' clubs were launched at
Cheung Kong Centre and Hotel Miramar
during the year. The Chamber increased the
amount of information on its Web site early
in the year and completely upgraded the site
towards year's end. I urge you to visit it often
to keep up with Chamber information.

In its Certification Division, the
Chamber added to the range of trade
documentation services offered to
members, expanded its electronic
assistance, and improved its delivery of
those services to members. While doing
all of the above, it is apparent from the

Chamber Chairman C C Tung (left) chats wilh Vice Premier Li Langing during the Chamber's
Beijing visit.
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The Hong Kong General Chamber of Commerce

CHAIRMAN'S REVIEW

accounts that the Chamber also had a
good financial year in a still difficult
economy.

A Better Economy

It is pleasing to report that the year
under review brought an improvement in
the fortunes of the local economy, with
growth faster than had been expected and
a marked recovery in financial markets.
Given the increased interest in higher
technology. telecommunications and the
Internet, the year also may have set the
foundations of a potential new and lucrative
direction for the local economy. By year's
end Hong Kong seemed intent on
reinventing itself yet again for the 21st
century, this time as an information
technology, telecommunications and
electronic commerce centre for Asia.

The Hong Kong SAR's economic
recovery in the last year of the 1990s was
far more rapid than had been originally
forecast. Real growth in gross domestic
product (GDP) was positive at some 2 per
cent in 1999 compared with initial
estimates of negative growth and an overall
decline in output of 5.1 per cent in 1998.
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Far more important than the recovery itself
was the new direction being set for the
economy.

By the end of the year, the SAR Chief
Executive Tung Chee-hwa was claiming a
new agenda for the SAR's development —
aiming to make Hong Kong a "world-class"
city in every respect, one set to become
Asia's equivalent of London or New York.
Hong Kong, he said, would become a
knowledge-based economy using higher
technology and information technology
to add value to its entire economy in the
21st century.

Among the year's events that were
behind the Chief Executive's confidence in
his new public agenda for the SAR,
presented in his annual Policy Address to
the Hong Kong community, were:
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Hong Kong SAR Government Chief Executive Tung Chee-hwa (centre), Chief Secretary for Administration
Judson Green (right) pose with Minnie and Mickey Mouse at Government House at the announcement of the
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The government's commitment to
creating a "cyberport” to advance the
information technology sector in the
SAR. Although initially criticised as
government intervention, this initiative
had the effect of encouraging greater
interest in the sector.

Creation of the new "second board" on
the stock exchange. named the GEM,
or Growth Enterprise Market, to
stimulate public listing of start-up
companies and companies from
mainland China. Hong Kong and
Taiwan, especially in the high
technology and information technology
sectors.

The government's negotiations with
the Walt Disney Co. and ultimate
announcement of a Disney theme park

.
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for Hong Kong to give a further boost
to the tourism industry and encourage
furtherinfrastructure investment in the
SAR. Again, this deal was initially
criticised as further government
intervention in the economy, but
gained widespread public support.
Launching of the tracker fund, known
as "TraHK" to sell back to the public
a fund with an interest in some of the
shares bought by the government in
its share market intervention of
August 1998.

The announcement of the U.S.-China
trade deal of late 1999 was seen as the
forerunner of China's entry into the
World Trade Organisation sometime
in 2000, a move widely regarded as
opening up even greater opportur ities

on Chan, and Chairman of Walt Disney Attractions

2ement to build a Disney theme park for Hong Kong.
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for Hong Kong-based businesses
(local and foreign owned) on the
mainland.

* The beginning of the recognition of,
and the willingness to tackle, the
serious problems facing the SAR's
environment and its education system,
and the commitment by both the SAR
Government and the community to
improving these key factors to make
Hong Kong a world-class city.

All these initiatives had the impact of
improving business confidence in Hong
Kong atthe same time as the economy was
recovering from recession and the share
market had achieved new record levels by
year end. The market advance, which saw
the benchmark Hang Seng Index break the
17,000 point level, even outdid the boom
of the pre-crisis, mid-1997 period. Along
the way, too, the local market converted
itself into one for high-tech stocks.

Once again, Hong Kong's close
relationship with the mainland was at the
forefront of these developments, with
China's potential in the new frontiers of
cyberspace, telecommunications,
information technology and electronic
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commerce at centre stage. The Hong Kong
SAR obviously has a clear strategic and
infrastructure advantage in serving China's
needs and the needs of East Asia in these
new fields. At the same time, it realises
there will be plenty of competition. The
SAR is now setting itself to meet that
competition.

One difficulty during the year was that
some of the industries that have been the
traditional strengths of the local economy
did not share fully in the apparentrecovery.
This was partly due to downward price
pressure (deflation) and the fact that
nominal or current dollar GDP declined
throughout the year, although at a slower
pace as the year progressed. Cash flows in
wholesale and retail, and tourism tended
to be lower. High real interest rates also
helped restrain overall activity. On the
other hand, external trade improved.

The local economy's recovery in 1999
was, therefore, a deflation-adjusted
rebound from the record levels of real
decline in GDP seen in all four quarters of
1998 and into the first quarter of 1999. If
there was somewhat an absence of a "feel
good" factor in the current recovery, it is
probably because in money terms, the
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economy's overall cash flow was still
down. We look forward to a reversal of this
situation in the current year.

Looking Ahead

I will have more to say on the outlook
for the current year and beyond at the
Chamber's Annual General Meeting on
Tuesday, April 18, 2000. For now, T will
limit myself to afew remarks on the general
outlook for the economy, the local business
community and the Chamber's own
business prospects.

At its Sixth Annual Business Summit
in early December last year, the Chamber
forecast real economic growth of 4 per cent
for the year 2000. This was then at the
upper end of the growth forecasts of other
analysts. Since then, many have upgraded
their estimates and the

Chamber's view looks far more g
|

modest in comparison.

[t needs to be recognised,
however, that there are some
uncertainties ahead, especially
regarding inflationary trends in
the coming year. There seems
little doubt that deflation in the
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SAR will come to an end some time in the
next six months. This will negatively af fect
the real economic growth rate, as will the
fact that growth will be coming off a higher
base as the year progresses.

In addition, faster global inflation, as a
result of higher world commodity prices,
good demand levels and a tighter labour
supply situation, could see interest rates rise
further, especially in the United States. This
would also have the effect of moderating
growth in the major economies and the
Hong Kong SAR.

Nevertheless, barring any external
shocks, the Hong Kong economy should
grow relatively strongly in 2000 — with
deflation abating as the year progresses —
and into 2001. Initial estimates are,
therefore, that the local economy will
cross the threshold of the new millennium

At the Sixth Annual Business Surmit the Chamber forecast real economic growth
of 4 per cent for the year 2000.
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in good shape. The year 2000 may,
however, be a mirror image of 1999, with
growth starting the year more robustly
than it ends it.

Apart from continuing deflation and
concerns about interest rates, the major
negative factor facing the economy
remains the need to concentrate on
reducing the costs of doing business and
enhancing the SAR 's competitive position.
Unemployment is also unlikely to return
to its low pre-crisis levels. The local
population and workforce are still
growing rapidly and although
employment has increased, so too has
unemployment. Against this background,
4 per cent real growth for the year seems
realistic.

These background numbers should
ensure that business conditions gradually
improve as the year
progresses. There is already
more confidence in the
market place led, in part, by
the buoyancy of the share
and financial markets and
the recovery in external
trade and tourism.
Unfortunately, there are
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still some pockets of weakness, especially
in wholesale and retail.

As for the Chamber, it is looking for
further improvement in its own business
situation. Membership is holding up well.
The continued improvement in the external
trade situation has also increased demand
for trade documentation services. The
Chamber will, nevertheless, continue to
keep a tight rein on costs during the year

In Closing

Members of the Chamber can be well
pleased with the achievements of 1999.
Business confidence improved throughout
the year, dramatically so in local financial
markets and some business sectors; more
gradually in others. The SAR also appeared
to find a new role for itself in modern
telecommunications and information
technology, the Internet and electronic
commerce. The better business environment
was also reflected in the Chamber's own
activities.

As economic recovery continues, there
are likely to be increased demands for the
Chamber's services and its broader work
in support of members and the local
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business community. Demands on the
Chamber's advisory committees are also
likely to increase. If you have not yet
played an active role in the Chamber
through its committee system then I urge
you to do so. It is through these advisory
committees that the Chamber is able to be
a strong voice arguing for the interests of
the business community. This is a voice
that is increasingly essential in the Hong
Kong SAR.

We also welcome any suggestions you
may have on improving the Chamber's
services and other regular activities. The
bigger, more representative and more
active the Chamber is, the better services
it can provide and the more forcefully it
can put forward the views of the business
community. [ also urge you to encourage
Chamber membership among those
companies you know, but who are not
already members.

Finally, some messages of
appreciation. I thank all members for their
support during another successful year for
the Chamber. Special thanks to my Deputy
Chairman Christopher Cheng, my two Vice
Chairmen Dr Lily Chiang and Anthony
Nightingale, and all members of the
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General Committee and the Council. My
thanks also to the Chamber Director Dr
Eden Woon, and the Chamber staff fortheir
tremendous contribution during the year.

I would like to thank, too, the Hon.
James Tien, the Chamber's Legislative
Council Representative in the Commercial
(First) functional constituency who worked
hard to represent SAR business interests
throughout the year. I would also like to
express my appreciation to my immediate
predecessor as chairman, Peter Sutch, to
whom we said farewell last summer on his
return to London.

After two difficult years of recovery
from the impact of the East Asian financial
crisis, the Hong Kong SAR economy and
its premier business organisation are now
back on track to a better future. The coming
year should see further recovery and new
directions for both the local economy and
your Chamber.

C CTung
Chairman
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s Hong Kong passed through the
A eye of the economic crisis and

started a slow recovery in 1999, so
did the Hong Kong General Chamber of
Commerce. Butif you examine the accounts
published in this annual report, you will note
that the Chamber has recovered faster than
the local economy — we went from an
operating deficit in 1998 of around $3
million to an operating surplus in 1999 of
around $5 million dollars! The dramatic
turnaround came about due to the stabilising
of our income, which was achieved through
expanding our Certificate of Origin business
to include electronic application assistance
at all CO offices. A drastic cost-cutting
exercise, which included a re-structuring of
our staff, and, mostimportantly, the diligent
work of the Chamber statT, all contributed
to the surplus.

But financial achievements are not the
only thing our members look for. They
look at what services they get for their
membership. On that front, I am happy to
report that 1999 saw a continued effort by
the Chamber to serve our members in
many different ways. Let me describe the
three categories of 1999 Chamber services
to you.
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Eden Woon, Chamber Director
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Policy

The Chamber dedicates itself to
promoting and safeguarding the interests of
its members and the business community.
To this end, the two major addresses given
each year by the SAR Government — one
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by the Chief Executive in October and one
by the Financial Secretary in March— have
significant implications for the Hong Kong
economy and thus are viewed as critical
occasions forthe Chamber to provide input.

In March of 1999, the Financial
Secretary’s Budget contained a number of
changes advocated by the Chamber,
including a freeze on government fees and
charges, and the freezing of civil servant
wages and salaries. We also called on the
government to shed as much of the market-
entering earnings from the year before as
soon as possible, and the TraHK fund was
established later in 1999 for that purpose.

In October of 1999, the Policy Address
contained a roadmap to Hong Kong’s future
vision as a world-class city, responding to
a plea contained in our submission to the
Chief Executive before his speech. More
specifically, education reform and
environmental protection are now front and
centre as major government commitments,
something the Chamber has argued for
many months now.

Throughout the year, the Chamber made
its policy positions known through its
contacts in the SAR Government. through
its legislative councillor, and through the
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media. The Chamber responded to
numerous consultation requests. A
Communications Division was set up for
the express purpose of improving our
essential dialogue with government and the
community, as different groups around
Hong Kong make their voices heard with
increasing regularity. We were also
instrumental in setting up the Business
Coalition on the Environment and the
Business Coalition on Education.

In addition, the Chamber lobbied
successfully on behalf of members with the
Central Government on processing taxation
and deposits regulations, and argued the
case for Hong Kong companies in Beijing
during our high level visit and our working
visit to Beijing.

Programmes

Through programmes, members learn
the necessary business and political
information in order to make business
decisions. They also can exchange ideas
with other business contacts. In this regard,
the Chamber was extremely busy with
programmes large and small.

In the “large” category, we hosted the
Intemational General Meeting of the Pacific
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Basin Economic Council, which had almost
900 registrants from both sides of the
Pacific Ocean and over 75 speakers —
including State Councillor Wu Yi of China,
President Joseph Estrada of the Philippines,
and International Monetary Fund Director
Michel Camdessus.

Our Sixth Annual Business Summit had
over 300 attendees listening to Zurich
Insurance Group’s Chief Economist David
Hale and other distinguished speakers talk
about their prognosis for Hong Kong’s
economy in the new millennium. The Chief
Executive also spoke at the summit and
delivered his post-Policy Address at a
luncheon co-organised by the Chamber for
over 1,200 local and international
businessmen. Other speakers during the
year ranged from Financial Secretary
Donald Tsang to Charles Schwab CEO
David Pottruck. A Venture Capital
conference in October drew over 200
attendees interested in the new economy,
funding of start-ups, and the Growth
Enterprises Market.

In all, the Chamber sponsored several
programmes every week, ranging from
luncheons, to seminars, to roundtables, to
workshops, to training courses, to
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conferences, to receptions. Any member
would be able to find some programme
useful to his/her company being held
several times a month.

I should add at this point that we
organised three training courses for about
250 mainland China executives during the
year, exposing them to international norms
in fund raising and corporate governance.
Our State Owned Enterprises (SOE)
training course was personally approved by
Premier Zhu Rongji and is the Chamber’s
way of providing business opportunities to
speakers who are our members, and of
assisting China's SOE reform.

Trade

We organised several trade missions to
China and overseas, with our presence in
both Xiamen's National Investment Fair
and Shenzhen’s National High-Tech Fair
being the biggest from Hong Kong. We also
hosted numerous delegations from the
outside. Our contacts with China — from
Beijing to provinces and cities — are now
excellent, providing business opportunities
for our members.

Our Web site (www.chamber.org.hk),
which was launched in April 1998 — long
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before any Internet hype — was completely
revamped in late 1999. It has become an
importanttool formany overseas businesses
and smaller Hong Kong companies to find
trade opportunities and partners. Beyond the
Web site, more and more programmes of
the Chamber are now designed to helpHong
Kong businesses adjust to the Internet age
with information on e-commerce and new
technologies. This will be a major emphasis
of the Chamber in 2000.

We also must mention the major project
of the Chamber: “Chinda’s Entry into the
WTO and the Impact on Hong Kong
Business.” Nine groups of Chamber
members worked for eight months on the
impact of China’s entry into the WTO on
their own business sector. This
comprehensive business perspective —
which differed fromexisting literature done
by academics and economists — was
published atthe beginning of 2000 to wide

acclaim ofits usefulness to the business
community here.

Finally, an undertaking to re-define the
role of the Chamber’s Hong Kong
Coalition of Service Industries (CS1) was
completed, with CSI now designed to be
the long-range service policy think tank of
the Chamber. This was significant in that
it focused CSI's work and allowed
Chamber resources to be more effectively
used. The World Services Congress and
the Quad Forum on the future of service
policy in Hong Kong are two of CSI’s
ma jor accomplishments in 1999.

In 1999, we also began a partnership
with CMG Asia Ltd. to provide Mandatory
Provident Fund (MPF) assistance to the
business community, Approval of the
product, Chamber CMG Choice, was
applied for with the MPF Authority, with
sales to members and others beginning 1pon
its approval in early 2000.

Allin all, as you can see, 1999 was a
very busy and productive year for the
Chamber. The division reports which follow
contain even more details on all our events
and achievements. I hope you will agree that
the 4,000 dollars your company spent on
membership in the Hong Kong General
Chamber of Commerce in 1999 was put to
good use by our hard-working staff who
serve you. | must add that sadly, the
Chamber lost a family member in October
when Assistant Director Sidney Fung, who
served the Chamber loyally for 23 years,
passed away. We continue to miss him.

1 thank all our members for your support
to the Chamber.

7 . P

EdenY Woon
Director

Participants and organisers of the SOE workshop.
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INTERNATIONAL
BUSINESS DIVISION

1999 was another eventful and
productive year for the International
Business Division. One of the major
accomplishments of the division was the
completion of the Chamber's project
""China's Entry into the WTO and the
Impact on Hong Kong Business.” With
support from the Hong Kong Coalition of
Service Industries, the project was initiated
in the middle of the year to gather members'
on-the-ground assessment of the effect on
Hong Kong's business in light of China's
accession into the WTO. Nine working
groups of Chamber members were set up in
banking, insurance, investment, professional
services, retail and distribution, technology,
telecommunications, textiles and clothing,
and trading, with members
volunteering to be in groups of
their interest and expertise. The
project was completed at the
end of 1999 and the final report
was released in January 2000.

During the year, the
division, on the advice of the
Chamber's trade area
committees, also organised a
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number of activities to promote business and
investment co-operation between Hong Kong
and the international business conmunity.

Programmes

The division hosted over 200 meetings
with visiting delegations and visitors.
Members were given the opportunity to meet
and network with their potential business
partners. In addition, the division also
organised other events such as roundtable
discussions, seminars, workshops and
luncheons, at which prominent speakers or
international trade representatives in Hong
Kong were invited to address topical
business issues that were of interest and
concern to members. Issues discussed in
1999 included: Clinton Administration's
trade policy and China's accession to the
WTO; the impact of U.S./Canada import

a* the Chamder Repert

Ofticis Helease
China's Entry into the W10
and the Impact on Hong Kong Busing

A Busowss Perspechve

Chamber Director Dr Eden Woon unveils the WTO project in January 2000.
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requirements for shipments from China and
Hong Kong involving wood packaging
materials; the Japanese economy and its
outlook; the EU's policy on anti-dumping
and other trade measures; opportunities in
Europe for smalland medium exporters; and
the tnvestment environment and
opportunities in the Philippines and
Thailand.

Fellowship dinners and cocktail parties
were also arranged, providing networking
opportunities for members to establish
connections with overseas government
representatives in Hong Kong.

Mainland China

Promotion of trade and investment in
mainland China continued to be a major focus
of the division. Its China-related services
include the provision of rudimentary advice
to members on doing
business in China,
dissemination of China-
related information
through the Chamber's
Web site, and organisation
of trade and investment
related events.

During the year, the
division also organised
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several successful delegations to China,
including a China Committee working
delegation and a high-level General
Committee delegation to Beijing in March
and June respectively. The General
Committee delegation was honoured to be
received by Vice Premier Li Lanqing;
MOFTEC Minister Shi Guangsheng; Hong
Kong and Macau Affairs Office Director
Liao Hui; Ministry of Finance Vice Minister
Lou Jiwei; and other senior Central
Government officials.

Other overseas trips included a delegation
to Xiamen in September for the Third China
Fair for International Investment and Trade,
and a delegation to Shenzhen in October for
the first China High-Tech Fair, both being the
largest delegations from Hong Kong. Two
investment study missions to Guangzhou and
Shanghai and Jiangsu Province were
organised in July and December. Meetings
with Guangzhou MayorLin Shusen, Shanghai
Mayor Xu Kuangdi, and Vice Governor of
Jiangsu Province Wang Rongbin were
arranged.

In addition to the above, the division, in
co-operation with the Chinese Enterprises
Confederation, organised two training
seminars on "Attracting Foreign Funds in
China's SOE Reform” in January and
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November. About 250 participants
comprising of senior management from state-
owned-enterprises in mainland China took
part in the training seminars.

The division also monitored the
development of China's economy and the
promulgation of new policies that affect the
interest of Hong Kong business in China. In
May, the Chamber organised an internal
meeting on "Recent Regulations on Processing
Industries in China." A member survey was
conducted in November to gather members'
views on the new regulations. The concerns
were consolidated and channelled to related
Central Government authorities via the
Economic Department of the Liaison Office
of the Central People's Government in Hong
Kong(the former XinhuaNews Agency, Hong
Kong Branch).

Incoming Visitors

During the year, the division received a
large number of VIP delegations and visitors.
Some of the distinguished visitors were:
Deputy Prime Minister of Foreign Affairs of
the Republic of Kazakhstan Kassymzhomart
Tokayev; Tanzanian Minister of Finance
Amina S Ali; Moscow City Government
Minister Eugeny Egorov; Chilean Vice
Minister of Foreign Affairs Mariano
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Fernandez; Organisation for Economic Co-
operation and Development (OECD) Deputy
Secretary-general Kumiharu Shigehara;
Australian Cnstoms Service Chief Executive
Officer L B Woodward; and Mexican State
of Aguascalientes Governor Felipe Gonzalez.

VIP visitors from China inciuded
MOFTEC Assistant Minister Ma Xiuhong;
State Administration of Taxation Deputy
Commissioner Hao Zhaocheng; Sichuan
Province Vice Governor Li Dachang; the
People's Government of Inncr Mongolia
Autonomous Region Deputy Chairman Wang
Fenggi: Dalian Mayor Bo Xilai; and China
Council for the Promotion of International
Trade Chairman Yu Xiaosong.

Chamber Overseas Speakers Group

The Hong Kong International (HKI)
Committee was restructured tobethe Chamber
Overseas Speakers Group (COSG) in 1999.
The mission of the group is to promote the
international image of Hong Kong as a first-
class business centre through speaking
engagements of group members.

In August, the Chamber and three other
trade associations in Hong Kong jointly hosted
a visit programme for a group of seven U.S
Congressional Staffers. The objectives of the
programme were to enable the staffers to gain
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The highly successful Venture Capital Conference.
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first-hand knowledge of the current political
and economic situation in Hong Kong. In
November HKSAR Chief Secretary for
Administration Anson Chan was invited to a

THE CHALLENGES OF THE NEXT CENTURY
FOR THE PACIFIC BASIN
HONG KONO, CHINA

32nd Interna

General Mee
s HONG KONG
BEC cHiNa

cocktail reception to share her insight on the
co-operative role of the government and the
speakers group.

Hong Kong — Taipei Business
Cooperation Committee

The Hong Kong — Taipei Business
Cooperation Committee (HKTBCC) organised
a "Hong Kong-Taiwan Economic Forum," in
co-operation with major Taiwanese business
organisations, in Hong Kong in April. It also
organised a conference on "Prospects for
Technological Development” in May, at which
Taiwan Semiconductor Manufacturing
Company Chairman Morris Chang was the
keynote speaker.

Pacific Basin Economic Council

The 32nd PBEC International General
Meeting took place in Hong Kong in May.
Close to 900 delegates attended the three-day
conference. Government leaders featured at the
conference included President of the
Philippines Joseph Estrada; State Councillor
of the People's Republic of China Wu Yi: South
Korean Minister of Finance Kyu-sung Lee;
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Australian Treasurer Peter Costello; and the
Chief Executive of the HKSAR Government
Tung Chee-hwa. Other prominent speakers
included Michel Camdessus of IMF; John
Bond of HSBC; Professor Jagdish Bhagwati
of Columbia University; Ernest Micek of
Cargill Incorporated; Lachlan Murdoch of
News Ltd.; Morton Bahr of AFL-CIO; Peter
Eigen of Transparency International; and
KosakuInaba of Ishikawajirna-Harima Heavy
Industries Co. Ltd.

Atthe 10th AGM of the PBEC Hong Kong
China Commiittee held in July, David Eldon,
Chairman of the Hongkong and Shanghai
Banking Corporation, was elected Chairman
of PBEC Hong Kong. J P Lee and Douglas
Fergusson were re-elected as Vice-chairmen.

Another annual event of the PBEC was
the mid-term meeting in September in
Auckland, New Zealand. The meeting
adopted a number of statements on APEC e-
commerce principles, APEC and WTO,
implementation of WTO TRIPs Agreement
in the Asia-Pacific and support of the GATS
and the upcoming services negotiations.

Chamber Mainland and
Overseas Associate Members

One of the major purposes of associate
membership development is to increase the
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Chamber's international network. During the
year, the total number of mainland and
overseas associate members showed a
significant increase. Besides receiving
information on Hong Kong's economy and
utilising the Chamber's Web site for business
networking, associate members also actively
participated in major Chamber events in Hong
Kong as well as in outgoing missions.

International Business
Information Service

The International Business Information
unit continued to ofter its services to Chamber
members and overseas businessmen requiring
business contacts, advice and information on
Hong Kong and international business. During
the year, the unit handled over 4,000 product
inquiries and 1,000 business information
Inquiries.

In close co-operation with the Information
Technology Department, the unit also
developed the "Oppertunities” Web page for
the Chamber and processed a large number
of product and investment enquiries online.

BUSINESS POLICY DIVISION

The Business Policy Division is
responsible for formulating, in consultation
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with the Chamber's membership, views on
policies (including government policies)
affecting the business community of Hong
Kong. It has particular responsibility for
issues relating to small and medium
enterprises, environment, industry and
technology, service industries and
Sfranchising.

General Overview

The Business Policy Division contributes
proactively to business policy issues. in
addition to monitoring and reacting to
consultations. Many of the issues are related
to regulatory matters of one kind or another,
for example, regulation of mobile
telecommunications, competition policy and
self-regulation, regulation of electronic
commerce, and regulation of misleading
advertising. In considering these matters the
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Chamber consistently upholds the principle
of a minimalist regulatory approach,
emphasising the importance of a regulatory
environment that is business-friendly.

The division also devotes a lotof effort in
promoting to members important policy matters
which affect the business community as a whole.
A prime example is the Code of Ethics on
Intellectual Property Protection, which the
Chamber promulgated 1o members in October
1999. By the end of the year more than 160
member companies with a total workforce of
more than 250,000 employees had signed up.

With the help of expert members the
division acts as the Chamber’s "think tank,"
generating ideas on subjects such as Hong
Kong's positioning as a maritime and aviation
hub, liberalisation of trade in services, and its
long-term vision of the Hong Kong economy.

An important guiding principle for the
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Chamber and for this division is that of
innovation, of breaking new ground. This is
demonstrated by a range of new ideas and
projects generated in 1999, as below.

Industry, Environment and SMEs

Small and mediwn enterprises

In the SME function the Chamber was a
pioneer in 1999 in a number of areas. The first
e-Forum for SMEs — a Web site featuring
video-clips, a resources page, an Internet
forum and an online competition — was
launched by the Chamber as part of the
government-sponsored SME Week from
February 5-12, 1999. A related project was
the launch of the first Hong Kong SME
Award, jointly organised with the Hong Kong
Productivity Council, which became the
concluding event for the SME Week.

Another first for the Chamber's SMEs was
a "Meet the Bankers" forum, an informal
occasion for dialogue between the SME
Committee and individual banks.

In view of the increasing involvement of
SMEs in mainland China, the committee
initiated a large-scale study entitled
"Managing Business in China, " conducted by
Hong Kong University and funded by the
Services Support Fund.
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On policy issues the committee
contributed position papers on government
SME strategy, electronic commerce. and bank
charges. The government has since
implemented measures to further support
SMEs, such as making changes to the Special
Finance Scheme and the creation of a
government SME office, to both of which the
Chamber has been a strong proponent.

A highlight of the committee's regular
events was the 6th Annual Chamber Spring
Dinner, with Chau Tak-hay, Secretary for
Trade and Industry, as the guest-of-honour
The SME training programme continued to
be actively supported by Chamber members,
with 47 training courses having been held.

Environiment

The Chamber Environment Committee
hosted a public seminar on environment and
energy in Hong Kong and Guangdong in
March 1999. The full-day seminar was the
first of its kind since the 1997 handover,
featuring high-level speakers from the
Guangdong provincial and Hong Kong SAR
governments. Gordon Siu, Secretary for
Planning, Environment and Lands, was the
luncheon keynote speaker.

The year also saw the Chamber heralding
the formation of the Business Coalition on the
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Environment (BCE) in June. Comprising
foreign and local industry associations with
the Chamber as convenor, the BCE became
the "green spokesman" for the business sector.
In July the BCE hosted a luncheon in honour
of C Y Leung, Convenor of the Executive
Council, who spoke on practical approaches
to cleaning up Hong Kong.

Other new projects included being
involved in twonew award schemes, the Eco-
Products Award (jointly organised with the
Chinese Manufacturers' Association) and the
Eco-Business Awards (with the Environment
Campaign Committee and the Hong Kong
Productivity Council). As organiser we were
honoured to have the presence respectively
of the Chief Secretary for Administration and
the Financial Secretary in the presentation
ceremonies of these awards.

Yet another important contribution of
the Environment Committee has been the
development of a Chamber Environmental
Statement, which came into effect in
January 2000.

As the advocate for the environment, the
committee was delighted by the emphasis on
the environment by the ChiefExecutive in his
Policy Address. Members were particularly
encouraged by the factthat many ideas which
the committee regularly putto the government,
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through various meetings and submissions,
were taken heed of by the administration.

Industry and technology

The Industry and Technology Committee
contributed substantially to the deliberations
of the Chief Executive's Commission on
Innovation and Technology. No fewer than
four substantive position papers were
submitted, and an in-depth discussion was
held after completion of the commission's
report with Executive Councillor and
Commission member Henry Tang.

In May the committee conducted a tour
of local high-technology manufacturer
Varitronix, as well as the Hong Kong
University of Science and Technology.

Wy

Through its regular meetings the committee
also deliberated on subjects ranging from the
development of Internet and multimedia
services, technology and its relevancy to Hong
Kong's traditional manufacturing industry, to
development of the Cyberport project.

The Chamber began co-hosting with the
Hong Kong Polytechnic a series of high
technology "mixer" gatherings which
provided an informal platform for networking
for university graduates, entrepreneurs,
industrialists, venture capitalists and
professionals. Another conference to bring
together technology investors and venture
capitalists was held by the Chamber in
October in partnership with the Hong Kong
Venture Capital Association.
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1999 HONG KONG ECO-PRODUCTS AWARD
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The Eco-Products Award is among the new projects launched by the Business Coalition on the

Environment.
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Hong Kong Coalition
of Service Industries

T he Chamber's ser ice policy think tank

During the year a thorough review was
undertaken of the strategy and positioning of
the Hong Kong Coalition of Service Industries
(HKCSI). The result was that the HKCSI now
has a much clearer identity as "The Service
Policy Think Tank of the Chamber." This has
enabled the HKCSI to enhance its role and
function considerably.

As a "think tank" the HKCSI focused on
long-ranged issues affecting Hong Kong's
development and competitiveness. It
continued to run the second "Tripartite
Forum" in January, involving senior officials,
business people and academics in
brainstorming about the service sector policy.
At the same time, the HKCSI initiated a
regular, but informal, dialogue with members
of the Legislative Council. The latter were
involved when a similar forum was held in
November, making it a "Quad Forum."
Funded by the government and hosted jointly
by the Chamber with the Business and
Services Promotion Unitandthe Hong Kong
University, these Forums provided the input
for the government's Services Promotion
Programme.
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Some exammples of the service sector
policies and issues to which the HKCSI
contributed include:

— COMPETITION The HKCSI developed
a set of guidelines on codes of practice to
promote pro-competitive practices. The
HKCSI postulated two levels of self-
regulatory codes of practice: a "Leve!
One" code for general application, and a
“Level Two" code with emphasis on
compliance.

— "SERVICES 2000" An ambitious study on
the opportunities from liberalisation of
trade in services was launchedin 1999. The
study is named "Services 2000" after the
WTO negotiations mandated for 2080. As
part of the study. a regional conference on
"Services 2000” was held in August 1999.

— TOURISM Twenty issues of priority were
listed in a paper to the Commissioner for
Tourism on prospects of Hong Kong's
tourism industry, including promotion of
traditional strengths, landmark
preservation, upgrading of attractions,
comfort and friendliness of the city, etc.

— HOUSING In aposition paper the HKCSI
offered suggestions on the Home
Ownership Scheme, financial assistance
to homebuyers. the land sale moratorium
and urban renewal.
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Examples of other subjects on which the
HKCSI provided substantial input included
regulation of insolvency, education review,
business park, and intellectual property
protection.

Promotion of services

The HKCSI acted as secretariat for the
1999 HongKong Awards for Services, as well
as organiser for the /nnovation category. The
awards concluded in December with a gala
dinner presided by the Financial Secretary.

The HKCSI continued to publish the
"Servicing Economy" newsletter to provide a
forum for the exchange of views. Four issues
were published in 1999 on the themes of
competition policy. infrastructure, liberalisation
of trade in services, and "Services 2000."

During the year two seminars were
organised, one in Hong Kong and the other in
Guangzhou, to promote the management
consultancy sector. The themes of the seminars
were, respectively, "Business Intelligence in
Times of Ups and Downs" and "Management
Prerogative in a Dynamic Society."

External co-operation

An | I-member HKCSI delegation visited
the State Development and Planning
Commission (SDPC) in April to study China's
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tertiary industry policies. In July the HKCSI
hosted a 13-member study mission from the
SDPC to Hong Kong.

In November HKCSI Chairman Stanley Ko
led a 25-member delegation to the first World
Services Congress organised by the USCSI in
Atlanta. The three-day congress attracted 700
people from 53 countries. The Hong Kong
delegation, collectively called "Hong Kong
Inc.”, was a sponsor of the congress. Eleven
delegation members acted as panellists or
chairmen in the various sessions. The congress
concluded with a body of substantive discussions
and recommendations from the private sector
on multilateral trade policy in services.

Hong Kong Franchise Association

Promoting business opportunities

Besides producing its regular newsletters
and hosting roundtables, the HKF A organised
two franchising opportunities forums in
February and June to bring together franchise
operators and potential investors. A total of
12 franchise systems were introduced to over
200 people through these forums.

Externaloutreach
The HKFA attended the annual meeting
of the World Franchise Council held in Kuala

Financial Secretary Donald Tsang.
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Lumpur in October, and took part in the
"Franchise Asia 1999” conference hosted by
the Malaysian Franchise Association. In
November the association organised several
speakers for the First China International
Franchise Conference and Exhibition
organised by the China Chain Store and
Franchise Association. To take advantage of
the visit, a delegation inet with mainland
China government officials responsible for
franchise development and legislation.

A survey was conducted during the
year to identif y potential for development
of franchising in the mainland. Another
survey on international franchising by the
World Franchise Council wasalso supported
by the HKFA.

ECONOMIC AND
LEGAL AFFAIRS DIVISION

Renamed during the year, the Economic
and Legal Affairs Division is the Chamber's
smallest operational unit. It is responsible
Sfor economic policy and research, as well as
taxation and legal matters important to
members and the local business community.
The division operates principally through
three committees and one sub-committee —
the Economic Policy, Legal and Taxation
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conumittees and the speciali'st taxation sub-
committee, the China Tax Group.

Overview

Faster than expected economic growth,
severatmajor policy initiatives from the SAR
Government, and a vibrant community debate
on potential new directions for the local
economy ensured the 1999 calendar year was
an active one for the Economic and Legal
Affairs Division. So, too, did some major new
initiatives within the Chamber itself.

One of the highlights of the year was, for
example, the announcement in October of the
Chamber's Mandatory Provident Fund (MPF)
alliance with the financial services group,
CMG Asia Ltd. The Economic and Legal
Affairs Division, which had monitored MPF
developments since its inception, played a co-
ordinating role in bringing to fruition this
commercial alliance on MPF products and
services designed especially for Chamber
members.

Elsewhere, the recovering economy,
together with the unusual element of
continuing deflation, placed increased
demands on the division for even more timely
economic analysis. The division responded
with regular media releases on current
statistics, economic updates in The Bulletin
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magazine and other briefing materials for
members of the Chamber.

New policy initiatives from the
government, including approval of the
Cyberport andDisney projects, and the launch
of the Tracker Fund, also required input from
the division in formulating the Chamber's
policy stance on these and other issues. The
prospect of World Trade Organisation (WTO)
entry for China also required response from
the division.

Finally, the division played an active role
in establishing the Chamber’s position on the
SAR's economic future, including the
developmentofa "world-class” city, expanding
Hong Kong's information technology and
communications base and ensuring the further
development of existing key economic sectors.

A study was undertaken on the "critical
issues” expected to help shape the SAR's
future economic development and several
meetings were held with government
representatives to discuss the issues raised.
Ideas generated in these meetings were
subsequently included in various Chamber
policy documents submitted to the SAR
Administration.

This concentration on economic issues
kept the Economic Policy Committee
particularly busy during the year, although the
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other committees were also active. The
Taxation Committee paid particular attention
to the government’s Budget situation,
especially its revenue needs, and the Legal
Committee monitored the so-called "rule of
law" debate during the year.

Submissions and Lobbying

The division continued to present various
submissions to the government during the
year under review and undertook soine
informal lobby activities on issues critical to
the local business community. Work related
to the Chief Executive's annual Policy
Address was especially heavy this year. The
annual Budget submission, this time for the
2000-2001 fiscal year, also received plenty
of attention because of the deficit and
revenue situations.

Throughout the year the division
attempted to establish broader links and
better communications with the government.
As a result of these efforts, it had two
meetings with the Central Policy Unit (CPU)
to discuss issues critical to the SAR's future
and what should be the main focus of the
Chief Executive's Policy Address to the
Legislative Council. It also met on several
other occasions with government officials to
discuss business issues.
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Committee Work

All committees within the division met
regularly during the year, although some were
convened more often than others, with their
meeting schedules depending on the levels of
activity in their respective areas of
responsibility. All provided important input
to Chamber policy during the yearand all were
involved in submissions to the administration
of one type or another.

Thechairmen ofthe three key committees
each attended separate meetings of the
General Committee during the year. At these
meetings they outlined current activities ofthe
committee, of fered advice on any issues raised
by General Committee members and
discussed the likely immediate future agenda
of their respective committee.

Economic Policy Committee
Responding to the adverse economic
circumstances, the Economic Policy
Committee, chaired by Martin Barrow, began
the year by setting out to examine the critical
issues likely to face the Hong Kong SAR in
its future development. As the year
progressed, this work dovetailed that being
done on other Chamber submissions to the
government, including the annual input on the
Chief Executive's Policy Address and the
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Financial Secretary's Budget.

It resulted in two formal meetings with the
government's Central Policy Unit under Dr
Edgar Cheng. Professor Michael Enright of
Hong Kong University, and David Dodwell
were also invited to address the conunittee on
their shared vision of the SAR's future. The critical
issues resulted in valuableinput to hoth the Policy
Address submission and the Budget paper.

At another meeting, Dr Alan Sui, also of
Hong Kong University, briefed committee
members on the new high frequency
economic forecasts being issued by the
university and the Better Hong Kong
Foundation. The Economic Policy Committee
also monitored economic developments
during the year and continued its work on
the deregulation issue.

Taxation Committee

The Taxation Committee, under Roderic
Sage, was active throughout the year, holding
its usual "Business and the Budget" briefing
session early March and a seminar on Field
Audits by the Inland Revenue Department
later in the year. Both were well attended. In
the second half of the year, the committee set
up sub-committees to look at tax issues for
the 2000-2001 Budget and the question of
whether the SAR needed a more broadly based
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tax system.

Committee members made a major
contribution to the 2000-2001 Budget
submission with a comprehensive assessment
of the tax system and recommendations on
how the government might improve it to
encourage growth in key economic sectors,
including financial services and information
technology. It stressed that the tax
recommendations were broad ranging and
meant for consideration over time, not
necessarily in a single Budget year.

The Taxation Committee's China Tax
Group met three times during the year to
monitor developments in the mainland
taxation systcm. It especially concentrated on
cross-border tax issues relevant to SAR
companies and the impact tax changes on the
mainland might have on their businesses.

Legal Conunittee

The Legal Committee, under Chairman
Tim Gallie, met less often than other
committees, partly due to the quieter
workload, especially in the second half of the
year and particularly in regard to new
legislation. It did, however, monitor the so-
called "rule of law" debate over the role of
the Court of Final Appeal and was ready to
give advice on the issues when called.
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The committee also prepared and
submitted to the government submissions on
the Treasury Shares Consultation Paper and
under the cousultation exercise on reform of
the SAR's Securities and Futures legislation.
It also monitored developments in
arbitration, especially in regard to reciprocal
recognition of SAR and mainland awards,
and broadly supported the Coalition of
Service Industries' submission on intellectual
property rights (IPR).

The Chamber would like to thank all
committee chairmen and members for the
work they put in during the year for the
Chamber and the wider business community.
Without their input, the Chamber would be
without valuable advice on which to base its
decisions on issues critical to the SAR
business community and to make submissions
to the SAR Administration.

Other Activities

In its other regular work, the division
prepared the Chamber's annual wages review
advice, produced periodic reviews of the local
economy and business sectors, and provided
statistics and other information to members.
It also arranged to meet with visiting
delegations and analysts from around the
world to brief them on the state of the local
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economy and the business outlook.

The Chief Economist delivered some 32
presentations to outside groups duringthe year,
by far the majority on economic issues. He also
sat on the Executive Committee of the Hong
KongRetirement Schemes Association and the
Pay Review Committee of the Employers'
Federation. At year's end he was appointed to
the Standing Committee on Company Law
Reform for a period of one year.

Business Summit

The annual Chamber Business Summit,
held for the sixth successive yearin 1999, has
rapidly become a fixture on the Hong Kong
business calendar. This year's event again
provided members and their guests with the
opportunity of a briefing on the SAR's
economic outlook and hearing the views of
local and overseas business leaders on key
business and economic issues.

For the Sixth Annual Business Summit,
the Chamber was fortunate to have the SAR
Chief Executive Tung Chee-hwa deliver the
opening address on the state of the Hong Kong
economy. A plenary session on the
opportunities and challenges facing the SAR
followed with Star TV's Gareth Cheng, the
Securities and Futures Commission's Andrew
Sheng, and Li & Fung's Victor Fung.
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The General Committee's discussion
panel proved as popular as ever with more
questions than could be accommodated in the
time available. The ChiefEconomist delivered
his annual economic forecast, predicting a
good year for the SAR economy, with at least
4 per cent real growth. Finally, David Hale,
Chief Global Economist with the Zurich
Group, gave an upbeat presentation on “Hong
Kong in Asia and the World."

Business Prospects Survey

The Chamber's second annual Business
Prospects Survey was held in the year under
review ahead of the Sixth Annual Business
Summit. Results of the survey were presented

Another full house at the annual Business Summit.
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at the summit. The survey sought members'
views on an extensive range of questions
related to the business and economic outlook
facing the Hong Kong SAR. Once again the
survey attracted a tremendous response from
members, with 509 replies being received,
equivalentto a 12.5 per cent response rate from
the Chamber's nearly 4,000 corporate members

CERTIFICATION DIVISION

The Certification Division provides
efficient and cost effective Certificate of
Origin and other trade documentation
services at various rates to Chamber
members, CO members and non-members.
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It operates eight offices througlioutthe Hong
Kong SAR to ensure easy access to its
services by all prospective clients.

Satisfactory Result

Despite the gradual economic recovery. the
year in review was another busy year for
Certificate of Origin (CO) issues. The Chamber
issued 242,490 certificates of origin in 1999, a
drop of 7 per cent compared with the previous
year. This was due mainly to the economic
downturn affecting trade, which did not pick
up until later in the year. Once again, staff
members aimed to provide an efficient
certification service. They deserve
congratulations for the long hours and good
work they put in throughout the year.

The elcctronic CO printing service was
further enhanced during the year and some
52 per cent of all COs received were printed
by the Chamber. The Chamber's smart card
payment system has been well received as a
substitute for cumbersome cash payment. By
the end of the year, more than 567 smart
cards had been issued. In excess of 25 per
cent of all CO and other tradc transactions
were conducted through the smart card
payment system.

CO processing time, including the time
required for the CO correction process, has
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also been further reduced and the Chamber
now provides a prompt half-day service in all
its eight certitication branch offices which are
strategically located in Hong Kong, Kowloon
and the New Territories.

Certification Co-ordination

Certification policy and issues arc mainly
dealt with by the Certification Co-ordination
Committee on which the Chamber is
represcnted by W . S. Chan, Assistant Dircctor,
Certification Division. The committee held six
meetings during the year. Major policy
matters discussed included EDI CO, EDI
Production Notification, revision of
certification fees and reimbursement of CO
fees to the SAR Government.

Investigation

To uphold the integrity of the certification
system, 4,609 consignment checks on
certificate applications were made. As a result,
115 applications were refused and six
applications were referred to the Trade
Investigation Bureau of the Customs and
Excise Department for further investigation.

ATA Carnet
The Chamber is the sole approved body in
Hong Kong for the issue of ATA carnets
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permitting trade samples, exhibition goods and
professional equipment to be taken across
national {rontiers without paymentof duty. In
1999, a total of 2,541 carnets were issued, an
increase of 12 per cent over the figure for [998.
They covered goods worth $2,475 million.
During the year, 311 disputes arising out
of the functioning of the carnet system were
settled. Among these dispules, 29 cases
resulted in payment of customs duties.

Service Centres

In co-operation with Tradelink Electronic
Commerce Limited, the Chamberextended its
certification services to cover electronic
lodgement of restrained textiles licences
(RTEL) and import and export trade
declarations (TDEC). To publicise these new
services, the Certification Division organised
10 seminars which attracted over 850 traders.

During the year, 16,931 RTEL
applications and 287,935 TDEC were
processed electronically, representing
increcases of 470 per cent and 510 per cent
respectively, comparcd with the previous
year's figures.

Incoming Trade Missions
In 1999, useful discussions werc held with
three incoming study missions organiscd by
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the China Council for the Promotion of
International Trade covering Guangzhou and
Shenzhen,

OPERATIONS DIVISION

The Operations Division has 25 staff and
is responsible for the smooth running of all
Chamber operations. It has four line
functions: Membership,
Information Technology,

E - B

categories stood at 4,130.

Our membership programmes were also
expanded during the year. Apart from
managing the existing services — Race Boxes,
Golf Club, 3288 Dinner Club, Discount Club
— we introduced two Chamber Dining Clubs
to serve our members, one on Hong Kong
Island at the Cheung Kong Centre and one in
Kowloon at the Hotel Miramar.

WM W%

Other new services included the staging
of three mini bazaars during the run-up to
festivals to help boost members' retail sales,
and the publishing of member profiles in T ke
Bulletin. The 1999/2000 edition of the
Membership Directory contains updated
information on each company's background
and activities, which helps generate more trade
leads. With the economic recovery around the

corner, we expect the
mg membership situation to

~ The Chamber Business website

Human Resources, and
Administration and
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Finances.

Membership | >
The economic downturn :
took its toll on Chamber
membership in 1999. Some
16.6 per cent of members
either resigned or chose notto Ty

renew their membership dueto Only

relocation, bankruptcy, cost
cutting or reduced usage of CO
services. With the concerted
effort of all staff, we were able
to recruit a large number of
new members during the year
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stabilise in 2000.
The unit issued over 1,000
personalised membership cards
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A Yelcome Budget
i | The Financial
Seeretary’ ¢ strong
4 | Budget re-slalement
e of the
+ Governmenl” s
traditiona] role of
“max imum suppor |
and minimum
intervention" in the
5 local economy is
welcome after the extraordinary actions prompted
by the East Asian financial crigis in 1957 and 1958,
Chamber Direotor Dr Eden Woon said the Financial
Secretary” = fifth Budget was nolable for the
balance and restraint shown by the Governmenl in
the face of uncertainties about future Government
revenue streams and the narrowness of the
traditional Lax base IMore »2

Luncheon wilh Disney's Steve Tight

Sleve Tight, Vice President of
Operalions Developmenl for Walt (%)
Disney Attractions, will outline b,' !

Chamber's March 14 luncheon This
will be the first public presentation
deliveredby & Dicney senior
#xecullve to the Hong Kong busineds
cormmunity More 3>

PEEC 2000 lo Be Held in
Hawaii

The Hohg Kong General Chamber of Commerce

4% TheChamherAlert £y

GHons Keng's Latest ForemnCurrency
Assets Figues Releasediyeh 07

welbse of IT 0 HR de velopment 10 enhance
civil Serwice competency March 07

wResulis of the 1998 Annual Sorvey of
Industrial FroductionMarch 07

@Extarnal trade statistes by country &
cummedity for Jan 2000 March 07

9000d news for taxpayer siv ‘gentle
2080-2001 Budget Maron8

QChambar to tautch Individuat Azsoaiate ]
member ship Maroh & §

QRF revisesupward its eciramic
for ecast fer H2NG Kand Marokr 6

‘OResnlts ¢1the 1298 Aanual Survey of,
Industrial Rraduction March 3

@Government takes lead in accepting
electyome submiscions nto 13w Maroh

throughout the year, organised
six new-members-briefing
meetings, and four cocktail
evenings —twoof which were to
allow our Legco Representative
3 James Tien to meet with
members.

3
Y

Information Technology
The Chamber's IT
capability was greatly
enhanced during the year, All
staff inthe head office are fully
inter-connected and have full
Internet access. The Chamber
Web site was redesigned and
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Ma Xiuhong, Assistant Minister for Foreign
Trade and Economic Cooperation, PRC.
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re-launched in November after its first launch
18 months prior. The site was given a new
address — www.chamber.org.hk — for better
and easier address identification, and new
content to reflect its mission to be ''"The Hong
Kong Business Web Site."

[t contains three main features: Direcror,
Opportunities and Information. Its prime
objective is to help generate more trade leads
for our members through the application of
e-business, and is therefore open to all
businessmen around the world. It also allows
members and their potential business partners
to communicate freely through the message
relaying service of the site.

The total number of pages viewed and
messages relayed doubled over the old one in
1999, and now attracts a continually
increasing number of international
businessmen who contact our members
through the Web.

The IT Unit produced a leaflet entitled
"Final Alert on the Year 2000 Problem" to
advise members on ways to deal with the Y2K
issue. The leaflet was welcomed by SME
members and was reprinted to satisfy demand

During the year, five roundtables on IT
and e-commerce were held, attracting 272
participants.

Year 2000 will be the year of e-business
for the Chamber: an e-committee will be
formed, more activities on the promotion of
e-tools for business applications will be
organised, and the Chamber Web site will be
further enhanced.

Human Resources

While the number of Chamber staff was
reduced further during the best part of the ycar,
the year-end headcount actually rose due to

MR.DAVID POTTF

President and CEO of Charles Schwab David
Pottruck.
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the recruitment of data entry operators in the
fourth quarter for the CO Division to cope
with the newly added EDI service. Yet the
overall payroll was slightly reduced compared
to the year before.

The Intern Programme was extended
beyond sumner training. We took 26 interns
in 1999. The programme is intended to help
those competent students — local or overseas
— with adaptive skills to excel in the workplace
after graduation.

Under the auspices of the Human
Resources Committee, 46 training courses/
seminars with 554 participants and six
roundtables with 250 participants were
organised during the year.

Apart from Chamber duties, the unit was
involved in a wide range of community
services. These included a blood donation
campaign for the Hong Kong Red Cross, the
Dress Casual Day for the Community Chest,
campaigns for the elderly, the disabled and
the unemployed for the Labour Department,
and the Good Citizen Award for the Hong
Kong Police.

The unit also supported the government's
"Youth Pre-employment Training Progranme,”
which provides school-leavers with a wide range
of employment-related training and workplace
attachment. Two trainees were offered
temporary employment upon completing their
two-months' training in the Chamber.

In support of the government's Education
Reform, the Chamber helped establish the
Business Coalition on Education. This is a
voluntary and informal assembly of chambers
of commerce and business associations which
share a common desire to contribute towards
the development of quality education in

Hong Kong.

Sohu.com founder Dr Charles Zhang.
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Administration & Finances

Despite the harsh economic conditions
that the business community faced in 1999
and the drop in Full Membership, Chamber
finances were surprisingly strong at year-end.
Against a before tax $1.8 million deficit
forecast at the beginning of 1999, we ended
the year with ahandsome $5.3 million surplus.
This dramatic turn around was due to stringent
belt-tightening, increased revenues from
various member services, growth in trade
document services in the fouith quarter, higher
investment returns and a reduction in the
number of employees.

The Chamber's new conference rooms
were put to good use throughout the ycar by
staff who hosted various events and by
members who hosted their own functions.

Apart from the routine administration of
Chamber operations, the unit organised nine
training courses, eleven roundtables and five
sales promotions for discounted publications
and foodstuffs.

COMMUNICATIONS DIVISION

The Communications Division was set
up in 1999 to promote the Chamber by
organising high-profile business
programmes and maximising its media
exposure with proper messages. It is also in
charge of co-ordinating the Chamber's
communication and relations with the
Legislative Council. The division also
handles production of The Bulletin and other
Chamber publications.

Sixth Annual Business Summit
The Sixth Annual Business Summit was
the biggest event organised by the division in



1999. Response to the December conference
confirmed that it has become an important
event on the local business community
calendar. The summit was opened by Hong
Kong SAR Chief Executive Tung Chee-hwa,
who was followed by a panel discussion
examining thekey elements of Hong Kong's
future economy. The General Committee's
question-and-answer session generated
discussions on how the economic crisis may
change the way companies do business. A
highlight of the conference was the luncheon
address given by David Hale, chief global
economist, Zurich Group.

Zurich Group Chief Global Economist David
Hale presents his keynote speech at the Sixth
Annual Business Summit.
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Programmes

The division organised a number of high-
profile luncheons during the year featuring
dozens of distinguished speakers. Among
them were: Hong Kong SAR Chief
Executive Tung Chee-hwa; Financial
Secretary Donald Tsang Yam-kuen;
Convenor of the Executive Council Leung
Chun-ying; Chief Executive of the Bank of
China's Hong Kong-Macau Regional Office
Liu Jinbao, MOFTEC Assistant Minister Ma
Xiuhong; Chairman of Growth Enterprise
Market Listing Committee Dr K S Lo;
Presidentand CEO of Charles Schwab David
Pottruck; CEO and founder of SOHU .com
Charles Zhang and others. In addition, many
roundtable discussions were held at which
experts addressed business issues of interest
and concern to members,

In October, the Chamber co-organised a
conference on venture capital with the Hong
Kong Venture Capital Association. The

conference not only provided attendees with
useful information on this alternative funding
source, but also allowed them to meet
potential financial partners.

The Bulletin and
Chamber Publications

The division took up the work of
producing the Chamber's monthly magazine,
The Bulletin, and other Chamber publications
from the Economic and Legal Affairs Division
in the year. A new look for The Bulletin, with
amoreattractivelayout and enriched content,
will be released soon. This division is also
responsible for the production of this year's
annual report.

Legislative Council Liaison

A number of get-togethers with different
political parties and their Legal Council
members were held during the year, to
strengthen communication and to exchange
views on issues of mutual concern. Such
informal gatherings will continue in 2000.

CHAMBER SERVICES LIMITED

The company is a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Chamber. It
concentrates on developing services and
providing commercial opportunities for
the business community of Hong Kong.
During the year under review, the
company had three main operations:
Event Management, Advertising
Representation and MPF Preparation.

Event Management
During the year, the
company organised and
managed over 40 events
incloding local and
international seminars and
conierences, exhibitions,
launching ceremonies,
preas conferences, award
presentations and gala
dinners ranging from 50 to
800 attendees. The
company's role as a
professional conference
organiser was further
expanded during the year.
The highlight of the
company's operations was
the organisation of the
1999 International General
Meeting (IGM) of the
Pacific Basin Economic
Council (PBEC) in the
Hong Kong SAR in mid-
May. The company also
handled conferences
ancillary to the main PBEC
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IGM, which was attended by some 900
delegates from around the Pacific Rim.
Other major conferences handled by the
company included the Small and Medium
Enterprises Awards presentation ceremony,
the Asian Chapter of the International Bottled
Water Association, and the China High-tech
Fair Cocktail reception. A diverse range of
other smaller attcndance events were also
arranged and conducted by the compeny.

The Bulletin Advertising Sales

The company acted as an advertising
representative for The Bulletin, the Chamber's
monthly magazine, and the upgraded
Chamber Web site. At the end of the year
under review the role of advertising
representative for the magazine was taken
over by a specialist outside contractor.

Mandatory Provident Fund (MPF)

During the year, the company played a
key role in preparing for the Chamber's entry
into the Mandatory Provident Fund (MPF)
through its alliance with the Australian-owned
financial services group CMG Asia Ltd. After
lengthy market research and negotiations, the
alliance with CMG Asia was announced
publicly on October 13, 1999.

In February 2000 the Chamber,
Chamber Services Limited and CMG Asia
jointly launched the Chamber's MPF
product, "Chamber CMG Choice."
Marketing of the new product began in
February 2000 and will continue until the
designated start-up date for MPF, which is
currently December 1, 2000.

The Chamber's MPF product, Chamber CMG Choice, is launched at
the HKCEC on February 23, 2000.
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The Hong Kong General Chamber of Commerce

HONG KONG PROGRESS

ECONOMIC PERFORMANCE Employment (000")
Sector 1999 1998  1997" 1984
Gross Domestic Product (GDP) - Expenditure Based Manufacturing 244 257 309 905
Finance, Business Services, etc 407 398 416 168
1999 1998 1997 1996 Wholesale, Retail and Trade 998 741 806 381
GDP - Current Prices 1,230.4 1.266.8 1,3239 11,1919 Restaurants and Hotels 213 206 221 175
- Change (%) -2.9 -4.3 +11.1 +10.7 Building and Construction 69 76 18 68
Community Services 339 324 314 202
GDP - Constant (1990) Prices 809.3 786.4 8290 7898 Civil Service 188 188 184 172
-Change (%) +29 -5 +50 +4.5 Total Labour Force 3530 3380 3.192 2,644
- Employed 3,310 3200 3,122 2,542
GDP Components (chauge %) - Unemployed 220 179 70 102
- Private Consumption +1.1 -6.6 +6.7 +4.7 Unemployment Rate (%) 6.0 5.0 22 39
- Gov. Consumption +3.5 +0.9 +24 +4.0 Underemployment Rate (%) 28 257 1.0 35
- Investment -17.6 -5.8 +15.6  +10.8 Labour Force Participation (%) 62.1 62.1 61.3 662
- Merchandise Exports +3.7 -43 +6.1 +4.8
- Merchandise Imports +0.1 12 +7.2 +4.3 Establishments
- Services Exports +5.5 -6.6 -1.1 +9.7 Sector 1999 1998 1997 1984
- Services Imports -09 -0.6 +3.6 +49 Mining and Quarrying ) 7 5 10
Manufacturing 23079 23,631 25724 48,038
GDP percapita(HKD) Electricity and Gas 21 22 25 3
- Current Prices 179,808  189.443 206,719 188.859 Construction Sites 989 1,082 1,105 1,046
- Change (%) -5 -6.7 +9.5 +19 Wholesate, Retail, etc 187,178 172,279 173,360 94,012
- Constant (1990) Prices 118,271 117602 127,854 125,139 Transport, Storage. Comm. 10,352 9,080 9,551 3,481
- Change (%) +0.6 -1.8 +2.2 +1.9 Finance & Business Services 49349 45733 47,583 14,757
Community Services 27428 24991 25882 19,040
Inflation and Wages 1999 1998 1997 1996 Total 298.401 276,825 283,235 180,387
Inflation (change %)
- GDP Deflator -5.6 +09 +5.8 +59 (1) Return of Sovereiguty to China
- Composite CPI -40 +2.8 +5.8 +6.3 (2) Joint Declaration signed between China and Britain
-CP1{A) -33 +2.6 +5.7 +6.0
-CPI(B) -4.7 +2.8 +5.8 +6.4
-CPI(C) 37 432 +61 66 FINANCE
Real Wages (change %) Stock Exchange
All occupations +1.5 +23 +6.0 +6.1 Indices rsearcnd) 1999 1998 1997 1996
Managers (A) -0.8 +52 +7.8 +79 Hang Seng Index vuyei=1000  16,962.10  10,048.58 10,722.80 13,451.50
- Finance 22,388.88  13,915.86 14,158.10 13,808.90
- Utlities 18999.25 1144196 12,28340 9,892.30
ECONOMIC STRUCTURE - Properties 19,839.94  14,214.44 14,839.10 26.376.40
- Commerce & Industry 10,753.03  5,791.36  6,482.50  9.972.90
Gross Domestic Product (GDP) - Production Based Hang Seng China Ent. Index 45427 398.28 722.90 980.60
Sector 1998 1997 1984 1980+ (July 94 = 1,000)
Agriculture and Fishing 0.1 0l 0.5 08 Monthly Average Turnover 159.7 141.8 315.8 117.6
Industry 15.2 14.7 322 317 (HKD bill)
- Mining and Quarrying 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.2
- Manufacturing 6.2 6.5 243 23.7 Money and Banking
- Utilities 2.8 283 24 113 Banking
- Construction 6.1 5.8 5.4 6.6 (year end) 1999 1998 1997 1996
Nooflicensed banks (operating) 156 172 180 182
Services 84.7 85.2 673 67.5 No of restricted licensed banks 58 60 66 62
- Wholesale, Retail, etc 24.0 26.1 231 21.4 No of DTCs (operating) 71 101 115 124
- Transport, Storage, etc 93 9.3 78 74 Money Supply M I (HKD bill) 2035 1977 2081  190.5
- Finance, Insurance, etc 25.6 265 15.6 230 Money Supply M2 (HKD bill) 3,1657 30679 27446 2266.1
- Community Services 19.9 17.4 154 121 Money Supply M3 (HKD bill) 32149 31241 28270 23472
- Ownership of Premises 14.5 13.0 10.2 8.9 Total bank deposits (HKD bill) 3,04001 29550 2,599.3 2,4333
- Financial Intermediation -8.5 12 -4.9 54 Total loans & advances(HKD bill) ~ 2,9502 33060 4,121.7 3,9133
- to finance HK's visible trade 103.1 133.0 1723 165.3
- to finance merchandising trade 110 16.5 20.7 19.9
not touching HK
- other loans for use in Hong Kong  * 1,822.0 1,958.5 2,040.9 11,6353
- other loaas for use outside HK 8560 1,170.1 18399 2,0521
Hong Kong Dollar Prime Rate 8.50 9.00 9.50 8.50
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Government Revenue & Expenditure (HKD billien)

Year Revenue Expenditure  Surplus/(Deficit)
1995-96 180.1 183.2 -31
1996 - 97 208.4 182.7 257
1997 - 98 281.2 194.4 86.9
1998 - 99 216.1 239.4 232
1999 - 00 2293 231.4 -1.6
2000 - 01 (Budget) 2442 250.4 -6.2
EXTERNAL TRADE
Merchandise Trade
Hong Kong Merchandise Trade (HKD billion)
Trade Type 1999 1998  Change %
Total Imports (c.if.) 1,392.7  1,429.] -36.4 -2.5
Total Exports (f.0.b.) 1,349.0 1,347.6 -1.4 +0.1
- Domestic Exports (f.0.b.) 170.6 188.5 -179 9.5
- Re-exports (f.0.b.) 1,178.4  1,159.2 +19.2 +1.7
Total Trade 27417 2,776.7 -350 -1.3
Trade Balance -43.7 -81.4 -37.7 -
- as % of Imports -3 =57 - -
Hong Kong Services Trade (HKD billion)
Trade Type 1999 1998  Change %
Exports of Services 2747 2674 +73 427
Imports of Services 174.0 176.5 -25 -14
Services Balance +100.7 4+90.9 +98  +10.8
Domestic Merchandise Exports : Major Markets(HKD billion)
Country 1999 1998  Change %
The Mainland 50.4 56.1 57 -102
USA 514 54.8 -34 -6.2
UK 10.4 10.1 +03 429
Germany 8.6 9.8 120 -12.2
Japan 55 6.4 09 141
Taiwan k| 6.5 -14 0 -215
APEC Countries 129.5 1435 -14 -9.8
European Union 32.8 35.2 -2.4 -6.8
Merchandise Re-exports : Major Markets (HKD billion)
Country 1999 1998  Change %
The Mainland 399.2 4074 -8.2 -2.1
USA 269.5 259.9 496  +3.7
Japan 67.5 64.2 +33 452
UK 45.5 423 +32  +76
Germany 44. 422 +1.9  +45
APEC Countries 899.0 880.4 +18.6  +2.1
European Union 184.1 176.5 +7.6  +43
Merchandise Imports - Major Markets (HKD billion)
Country 1999 1998  Change %
The Mainland 607.6 580.6 4270  +4.6
Japan 162.7 179.9 -17.2 9.6
USA 98.6 106.5 9.9 93
Taiwan 100.4 104.1 =37 -36
South Korea 65.4 68.8 -34 -49
APEC Countries 1,200.7  1,216.3 -15.6 -13
European Union 127.2 177.8 247 -16.3

Eo I R
Imports by End Use (HKD bill) 1999 1998 1997 1996
Foodstuffs 572 64.6 729 65.2
Consumer goods 508.4 5113 586.9 5729
Fuels 27.4 23.4 299 32.5
Raw materials & manufactures 471.9 483.5 5624 540.9
Capital goods 3279 346.4 3629 3239
Re-exports by End Use
(HKD billion) 1999 1998 1997 1996
Foodstuffs 18.2 21.0 234 22.4
Consumer Goods 545.3 5411 590.4 5731
Fuels 32 8.1 14.2 13.1
Raw Materials & 343.0 333.4 3652  348.6
Capital Goods 268.6 255.5 251.4 2287
Services Trade
Exports of Services 1998 1997 1996 1995
Total (HKD billion) 267.4 295.6 2962  265.6
Transportation 94.6 102.8 100.6 96.4
Travel 55.3 72.1 84.5 749
Insurance 32 2.3 2.8 3.7
Financial 14.9 18.8 19.0 16.3
Trade-related 754 75.5 68.3 54.3
Other Business 243 241 20.9 20.0
Imports of Services 1998 1997 1996 1995
Total (HKD billion) 176.5 179.7 170.9 1609
Transportation 343 39.2 39.9 38.3
Travel 104.5 98.2 88.7 81.2
Insurance 29 3.0 32 4,7
Financial 49 6.9 6.3 6.1
Trade-related 119 13.6 13.9 124
Other Business 18.0 18.9 19.1 18.2
Services Trade Balance +909  +1159  +125.3 +104.8

OTHER INDICATORS

Electricity Consumption 1999 1998 1997 1996
Industrial 17,547 18,489 18965 19,934
Commercial 76,028 73857 67849 64,465
Domestic 31,340 32,793 28934 29,194
Other (incl. export) 2,640 2,504 2,340 2,107
Total 127,555 127,643 118,088 115,790
Telephone Lines ('000) 1999 1998 1997 1996
Residential 2,188 2,154 2,089 2,028
Business 1,597 1,544 1,508 1,374
Fax 382 358 343 308
Pagers 445 600 932 1,089
Mobile 3,350 2,762 2,085 1,210
Motor Vehicle Registrations (No.) 1999 1998 1997 1996
Total licensed 503,974 500,673 500,228 475,115

- nnew registrations 42467 49387 62,807 37,469
Private cars 321,617 318,317 314,833 293,381

- new registrations 29,363 33,487 43054 22203



The Hong Kong General Chamber of Commerce

CONSOLIDATED ACCOUNTS

As at 31 December 1999 (expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

AUDITORS' REPORT TO THE
MEMBERS OF THE HONG KONG
GENERAL CHAMBER OF
COMMERCE ("THE CHAMBER")

(Incorporated m Hong Kong and Iiniited by guaraniee)

We have audited the accounts on pages 28 to 35 which
have becn prepared in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in Hong Kong.

Respective responsibilities of the Gencral
Committee and anditors

The Hong Kong Companies Ordinance requires the
General Committee to prepare acconnts which give
a true and fair view. [n preparing accounts which
give a true and fair view it is fundamental that
appropriatc accounting policies are selected and
applied consistentty. that judgcments and estimates
are made which are prudent and reasonable and that
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the reasons for any significant departure from
applicablc accounting standards arc stated.

[t is our responsibility o form an independent
opinion, based on our andit, on those accounts and
to report our opinion to you,

Basis of opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with
Statements of Auditing Standards issued by the Hong
Kong Society of Accountants. An audit includes
examination, on a test basis, of evidence relevantto
the amounts and disclosures in the accounts. It also
includes an assessment ot 'the significant estimates
and judgements made by the General Commiittee in
the preparation of the accounts, and of whether the
accounting policics are appropriate to the Chamber’s
and the group’s circumstances, consistently applied
and adequately disclosed.

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

all the information and explanations which we
considered nccessary in order to provide us with
sutficient evidence to give reasonable assurance as
to whether the accounts are free from material
misstatement. In forming our opinion we also
evaluated the overall adequacy of the preseatation
of information in the accounts. We believe that our
audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Opinion

[nvur opinion. the accounts give a true and fair view. in
all material respects, of the state of affaiis of the Chamber
and of the group as at 31 Decembcer 1999 and of the
group’s surplus and cash flows for the year then ended
and have been properly prepared in accordance with
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

1= 0
Signed KPMG
Cerificd Public Acconntants. Hong Kong 14 March 2000
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As at 379 December 1999(expressed i1 Hong Kong dollars)

Fixed assets
Unlisted non-trading investment

Non-trading securitics managed
by investment manager

Stalf housing loans

Current assets
Accounts with investmeni manager
Debtors and prepayments
Cash atbank and in hand

Current Iiabilities
Creditors and accruals
Subscriptions received in advance
Taxation

Note 1999 1998
HEEF restated

B & $'000 $'000
2(a) 147,035 150.767
4 & 3

5 57,578 47411

6 3,000 6.000

7 4,814 5427
7,674 8.126

17,271 9,645

20,759 23,198

237,372 221,376

11,637 11.778

11,916 12,600

8(b) 45 361
23,598 24.739

202,637
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HAeuafafik (8) CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET (continued)

Note 199¢ 1998
Kt & $'00¢ $'000
WA E General fund 203,531 198.465
3 0F AR A ARSI Investment Revaluation Reserve 10.243 4,172
213.774 202,637
2000 5E 3 )1 14 HRFTHGME O (il b 1T Approved by the General Committee on 14" March 2000
Lg% frafE M C C Tung Chairman
REEG gi1:URs:4 Christopher W C Cheng Deputy Chairman
E- /%3 5807 Eden Woon Director
B ALt D5 7 alil Price Waterhouse Treasurers
(R EG i) (Certified Public Accountants)
RIS 31 W3 35 TR AT J9REBRET AY— 53 = The notes onpages 31 to 35 form part of these accounts,
Vs T ¢ BALANCE SHEET
Mo1999 4 12 51 1T (LLilmeEr L) As at 31V December 1999 (expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
Note 1999 1998
28851 restated
- Gl $'000 $'000
18152 Ve P Fixed assets 2(b) 146,969 150,638
AL PARIT IRV g Investment in subsidiary 3 72 766
S Ll ~ AR S 4R Unlisted non-trading investment 4 - -
il Y R BT BB 0 e 58 B e 20 Non-trading securities managed
by investment manager 5 57.578 47.411
B LU B 8% % Staff housing loans 6 3.000 6.000
RETA Current assets
SRV Accounts with investment manager 7 4814 5427
S Ko 18 1 3OR Debtors and prepayments 7,168 8,037
WIT KRBT Cash atbank and in hand 16,926 9,060
28,908 22,524
236,527 227,339
NN Current liabilities
TR R R B M it 40 A Creditors and accruals 11,159 11,431
i fr 8 Subscriptions received in advance 11,916 12,600
HE Taxation 8(b) 45 361
23120 24392
213.407 202947
s General fund 203,164 198,775
BV 4K (R Investment Revaluation Reserve 10.243 4.172
213,407 _2_07.9-17
2000 %E 3 A 14 HAHTBR B @Gk LS RA Approved by the General Committee on 14" March 2000
p§id: Tk 1% C C Tung Chairman
& T ER Christopher W C Cheng Deputy Chairman
FHow MR Eden Woon Director
ST Ot IS R 1 5¥. Price Waterhouse Treasurers
(RS EHID (Certitied Public Accountants)

T 31 1% 35 RAYMIE IR H i -8 5) o

Thenotes on pages 31 to 35 ferm part of these accounts




The Hong Kong General Chamber of Commerce

CONSOLIDATED ACCOUNTS

As at 31% December 1999 (expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME AND EXPENDITURE ACCOUNT
Sor the year ended 31 December 1999 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Note 1999
K it $'000
Income
Members' subscriptions 14,225
Fees 9 36.138
[nterestand dividends 10 2,488
Surplus on disposal of non-irading securities 1,799
Publications and promotion 11 6,644
Rental income 2,633
Exchange difference 52
_63.979
Expenditure
Statf 12 41,682
Office 13 7,306
Services 14 3.074
Depreciation 15 6,444
Subscriptions and donations 16 84
_.38.590
Operating surplus/(deficit) 5,389
Surplus on sale oficasehold property
Surplus from ordinary activities before taxation 5.389
Taxation 8(a) 323
Surplus after taxation 17 5,066
General fund brought forward 198.465
General fund carried forward 203,531

The notes on pages 31 to 35 form part o f these accounts

CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT
for tite year ended 3] December 1999 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Note 1999
2 $'000
Net cash inflow/(outflow) from operating activities (a) _ 10.786
Returns on investments and scrvicing of finance
Interest and dividends received 2.488
Netcash inflow from returns on investments
and scrvicing of finance _..2.488
Taxation
rofits tax paid _..(639)
Investing activities
urchase of fixed assets (2,712)
Purchase of non-trading securities (72,461)
Sale of leasehold property -
Sale of other fixed assets -
Sale of noo-trading securities 70,164
Net cash outflow from investing activities _(5.009)
Increase/(decrcase) in cash and cash equivalents 7,626
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 9.645
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 Dccember 17,271

STATEMENT OF RECOGNISED GAINS AND LOSSES
for the year ended 31 December 1999 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Note 1999
[ <3 $'000
Surplus on revaluation
Investments in non-trading securities 6,071
Net gains not recognised in the income
and expenditurc account 6,071
Net surplus for the year 3.066
Total recognised gains and losses 11,137

The notes on pages 31 to 35 form part ef these accounts.

1998
$'000

15.129
37.463
25129
92
1,611
2.877
(255)

L

43,832
8,006
3.839
7.060

62.881

(3.235)
7.475
4,640
437
4.203

194262
198,465

(3.764)
(23.428)
9.884

3

13.854

1998
BHHEP restated
$'000




L OO

55 A BL G Ui R R Mk

E19994E 12 H 31 LIILAEE (LIGEELER)

(=)

EREFRORRITBERHREBA (Xh)
AR AR

TR JE T B A5 IR AL 1 2 B
WK 3T % 2 8

E U AL R AR

4% [ BT AR Y

b4 3F 38 508 SR 1R 2 B
72 VT A K
WER BN KL

TR MURF R D7 ()
RRUC R X R M PR 3Kk > 7 )
A IR K TR U 4 sk 2
06 £o3=e

BHGRRENA 7 (ZH) ¥4

W& H B

(AHER AR

)5
(a)

(b)

(c)

(¥

®

T prit S

28I H 1y HERY

R RIS EF AR RSl FRIRL B
SFECTAGTMAIG CEIITTFHI R
(R BAT AT ABFR FOGR C = T3 A 93 B 8 o2 TRLE) AR &

W -

B VST I 1 i
SRRBWMELMEREHBARGEGS 12/
31T LAYUER » PP AT 40 A) B Al 2 i B I8 5
RE NGO a ARk .

BRI 4 wil 1y 4 3¢

TR — A RIR IR RN TE S T 2 IO EBE
FETRLA - B ) B IR - B R
BRI - ZATIHIAMES A7) -

1 BI85 20 A4 4 YE LAARACINIBR thEE ) @il e 84 J i
B P BRAE I ST o (0007 e 1 AR (I T 5
KNI ALHAIR -

W ARt
SO R LA P it ) A IRAR 7T 1 2

[ 55 VS 7 WA I (1 B e SR 1 42 T Bt

R LIRS R TR EM T A -

MEFRMF A 10 % - BREA T ALAL o

TERERR AP AR A T R A A TTAC 4%
Hamizd (53 BZ4) DERIPETT -
H AWK E AR FIIE R DA HRER

IR - SRR A 10 % 20%
it 20%
HRBil 5

R HE KR LGB RN ERILE  HRIH
TR A RS BT L o TSI 4 A& M EH -
BYEETY - HUTEARE RS RN T AR - B
FATHE % - SENINaE  URTER IRITHRLA
A4 SR TUEUNRY A TRAT B AA] B B
Bl I RS L B B & -
IFIECE ZF LRI S 2 1L - T A A R
FIRRE PR » (67T RAYAE I 5 TTR oK B 1 A i
] BT R T A AT AL S 3T R AR
TE R W] 12 (5 $4E -

BRI 285538 25 M A B BIRUTEN L R B SE R A
% = 7 BRI DG R 6L AT AT A 1 Y o R 1L
R Kz 5% 25 BT ] W IR o

VITE » 38 ZRR F A0SR A A MU TR » 551K
W AGHEOE AT EEF B G ML wibh

2 a4 Wk H
B 1999 % 19 A 31 H (LUHEHET)

NOTE TO CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT
Jor the year ended 3] December 1999 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(a)

Reconciliation of surplus from ordinary activities before taxation to net cash inflow /(outflow)
from operating activitics

1999 1998

$'e00 $'000
Surplus fromordinary activities before taxation 5,389 4,640
Surplus on sale of leasehold property 7 (7.875)
Interest and dividends received (2,488) (2.729)
Deficit en disposal of fixed assets - 98
Surplus on disposal of non-trading securities (1.799) (92)
Depreciation on fixedl assets 6.444 6.962
Decrcase in statf housing loans 3.000 -
Decrease/(increase) in accounts with investment manager 613 (1.966)
Decrease/(increase) in debtors and prepayments 452 (817)
Decrease in creditors and accruals (141) (2.507)
Decrease in subscriptions received in advance (684) (1.045)
Net cash inflow /(outflow) from operating activities 10.786 (5.331)

NOTES T® THE ACCOUNTS

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars}

1
(a

~

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

Significant accounting policies

Basis of preparation

The accounts have been prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in Hong
Kong and comply with all applicable Statements of Standard Accounting Practice and Interpretations issued
by the Hong Kong Soeiety of Accountants. The accounts ae prepared under the historical cost convention,

Basis of cousolidation
The consolidated accounts includle the accounts of the Chamber and its subsidiary made up to 31 December
each year. All material intercompany transactions and balances are eliminated on consolidation.

Investment in subsidiary

A subsidiary is a company in which the Chamber, directly or indirectly. holds more than half of the
issued share capital, or controls more than half ol the voting power, or controls the composition of the
board of directors.

Investment in subsidiary in the Chamber’s balance sheet is stated at cost less any provisionfor diminution
in value which is other than temporary as determined by the General Committee. Any such provisions
are recognised as an expense in the income and expenditure account.

Income recoguition
Income is recognised when earned and is accounted for on an acciual basis.

Fixed assets

Fixcd assets are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation.

Leasehold land is depreciated over the remaining periods of the respective leases.

Buildings are depreciated over a period of forty years from the date of acquisition.

Computer system is depreciated on a straight line basis over the estimated economic life of the system
of three years starting from the time the economic benefits begin to accrue.

@ther fixed assets are depreciated at the following annual rates on a straight line basis:

Furniture, fittings and office equipment 10% to 20%

Motor vehicle 20%

Noun-trading securities

Investments which are held for non-trading purposes are stated at fair value at the balance sheet date.
Changes in the fair valire of individual securities are credited or debited to the investment revaluation
reserve until the security is sold, collected, or otherwise disposed of,, or until therc is objective evidence
that the security is impaired, at which time the relevant cumulative gain or loss is transferred from the
investment revaluiation reserve to the income and cxpenditure account.

Transfers from the investment revaluation reservc to the income and expenditure account as a result of
impairtnents are reversed when the circumstances and events leading to the impairmentcease to exist and
there is persuasive evidence that the new circumstances and events will persistfor the forseeable future.
Profits or losses on disposal of non-trading securities are accounted for in the income and expenditure
account as they arise. The profit or loss includes any amount previously held in the investment
revaluation reserve in respect of that security-

In prior years, investments in securities were stated at cost less provision for permanent diminution in
value. This represents a change in accounting policy in ordcr to comply with Statement of Standard
Accounting Practice Number 24 issued by the Hong Kong Society of Accountants. The new accounting
policy has been applied retrospectively and comparatives have becn restated accordingly. The change
in accounting policy does not have any effect on the current year’s surplus. The only effect is to
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CONSOLIDATED ACCOUNTS
As at 31" December 1999 (expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
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(h)

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS (continued)

increase opcning net assets by increasing the carrying amount of non-trading investments and the
corresponding investment revaluation reserve by HKS4.172.000

Operating leases
Rentals receivable and payable under operating leases are credited and charged to the income and
expenditurc account on a straight-line basis over the applicable periods of the respective leases.

Related parties

For the purposes ot these accounts. parlies are considered tobe related to the Chamber if the Chamber
has the ability, directly or indirectly. to control the party or exercise siguificant mfluence over the party in
making financial and operating decisions. or vice versa. or where the Chamber and the party are subject
to common control or common significant influence. Related parties may be individuals or other entitics.

R 1'5(:(15 ‘)z‘f'rff'iif!‘ BOZBERY RN A (i) Translation of foreign currencies
REY FNHBLFIRIA ek 5 r —/J"fd?'! Foreign currency transactions during the year are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange
(il — 2 llsgiler ] — ol GRS - JIJag 7y RE RIEREL T EBL AT rates ruling atthe transaction dates. Monetary asscts and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
BB« 7TEE AT AT LR AR A R L1 (K o are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the market exchange rates ruling at the balance shect date.
Q) SIS Exchange gains and losses are dealt with in the income and expenditure account
AR Y S ZE B 4G 58 5 HN HE A 45 X e - 1R 3 Fixed assets
V5 e Lo £z )1 Aot 4L Y R 1A ot HT A hy e i Lo . . s - - N
B BRI PG L - 4 YU EERE O
JC » SRt R SE BB e VAN LS kA - LES LE ?I:/)'(g?/li
5 . }“_‘l&””
2. WARA (a) Consolidated Leasehold Furniture,
propertics  Leasehold fittings
(a) B held for  investment and office Motor Computer
own use properly  cquipment whicle system Totat
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $600
B Cost:
1999 % 1 A1 H At | January 1999 54,228 98.323 15,855 479 8.693 177578
CaiN Additions - - 665 - 2,047 2,712
(5327 Transer 44.522 (44.522) - - - -
71999 # 12 H 31 H At31 December 1999 98750 53800 16520 479 10.740 180,299
K Aggregate depreciation:
R1999% 1 A1 A At 1 January 1999 8.390 2,708 9.707 271 5735 26811
FRiTH Charge for the year 1,737 874 1493 96 2244 6444
13429 Transfer 691 (091) - - - .
# 1999 % 12 A 31 A At31 December 1999 10.818 2891 11.200 367 7979 33255
I inF iR A Net book value:
PRasse F12 A3 A At 31 December 1999 87.932 50.910 5.320 112 __ 276 147.035
P19eF12 A31 | At 31 December 1998 45.838 95.615 6.148 208 2,958 150.767
(b) BHH (b) The Chanber
Bl Cost:
W ig99 1 A LA At 1 January 1999 54,228 98.323 15541 419 8693 177264
& Additions - - 665 . 2,047 2712
"e Transfer 452 (@451 - - - -
#1989 % 12 4 31 A AU31 December 1999 98750 53801 16.206 479 0740 179976
I Aggregate depreciation:
W 1999 %1 B 18 At | January 1999 $.390 2708 9,522 271 5735 26,626
#RIT% Charge for the year 1,737 874 1,430 96 2,244 6,381
(.12 Transfer 691 (691) - - -
A 1999F 12A31 A At 31 December 1999 10.818 2.891 10.952 367 7979 -3'3007_
TR it Net book value:
21999 % 12 A 3L E At 31 December 1999 87.932 50.910 5.254 112 2,761 146.969
#1998 12 4 31 8 At31 Dccember 1998 45338 95.615 6,019 208 2958 150,638
(c) AMAITHTRRDHRILERE - ¥ EIH {c) The leasehold properties held for own use and investment property are situated in Hong Kong and

By AfE4T ©

held under long leases.
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS (contimted)

3

(a)

Investment in subsidiary

1999 1998

$'000 $'000

Unlisted shares. at cost 19 10
Anmount due from subsidiary 4.674 5.368
4,684 5.378

Less: Provision (4.612) (4.612)
12 766

The wholly owned subsidiary is Chamber Scrvices Limited ("CSL"), incorporated in Hong Kong.
whose principal activity during the year was the provision of business rclated services. The Chamber
has issued a letter of support which was in force during the year for an unspecified amount to provide
financial assistance as is necessary to maintain CSL as a going concern.

Unlisted non-trading investment

1999 1998
$'000 $'000
Shares in Tradelink Electronic Document Services Limited
("Tradelink"), at cost 5.875 5.873
Provision for impairment (5.873) _(5.875)

The General Committee considers it prudent to provide fully against the investment in Tradelink.

Non-trading securities managed by investment manager

1999 1998
$'000 $'000
Atmarketvalue

Listed investments
- Hong Kong 9,353 4,706
— @verseas 16.961 26.023
26,314 30.729
Unlisted investments 31.264 16.682
57.578 47411

Unlisted investments comprise bonds and other marketable instruments,

Staff housing loans

The stafthousing loans are secured, interest free until 31 Becember 2001 and at 5% per annum therealter.
The amounts are repayable upon the staff members’ resignation or retircment or on the sale of the
property, whichever occurs earlier

Accounts with investment manager

These comprise cash balances in interest-bearing current accounts and fixed deposits together with
accrued interest and dividend receivable on marketable securities, managed by the investment manager
as follows:

1999 1998
$'000 $'000
Current accounts 4.814 4.841
Accrued interest and dividend receivable - 586
4814 5427
Taxation

Taxation i n the consolidated income and expenditure account represents:
1999 1998
Provision for Hong Kong profits tax at 16% (1998: 16%) $'000 $'000
on the estimated assessable profit forthe year 380 460
@®verprovision in respect of prior year (57) (23)
323 437

The Chamber is liable to profits tax on net surplus earned other than those arising from subscriptions
and feeincome. The subsidiary is not liable to profits tax as the company sustained a loss for taxation
purposes during the year.



TheHong Kong General Chamber of Conunerce

CONSOLIDATED ACCOUNTS

As at 31" December 1999 (expressed in Hong Kong daollars)
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS (continued)

8
(h)

10

n

12

13

Taxation (continued)
Taxation in the balance sheets represents:

Provision for Hong Kong profits tax tor the year
Provisienal profits tax paid

Balance of profits tax provision relating to prior years

Fees

Gross fee income
Reimburscment to Hong Kong Government
Others

Interest and dividends

Interest on time deposits and staff toans
Interest and dividends

— listed investments

— unlisted investments

Publications and promotion
Income from

— publications

—sundry services
—exhibition

— seminar

Expenditure on

— publications

— trade and programme promotion
—advertising and public relations
—exhibition

— semmar

Net income

Staff

Salaries, bonus and allowances

Contribution to staff retirement fund

Staff quarters rental and the related expenses
Medical expenses

Passages and leave allowances

Training and recruiting

Office

Rent and rates

Light and power

Telephone

Printing and stationery

Postage

Maintenance, repairs and cleaning
Books and newspapers

Local travelling

Motor car expenses

Sundry expenses

1999
$'000

3.672
15.469
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS (continued)

14

16

17

18

19

20

21

=

(a

(b

=

22

Scrvices 1999 1998
$'000 $'000

Audit fees 182 224
Treasurers' fees 960 900
Legal and professional fees 167 157
Computing fees 966 1.594
Investment manager’s fees 244 263
Insurance 555 701
3.074 _ 3839

Depreciation 1999 1998
$'000 $'000

Depreciation on {ixed assets (note 2(a)) 6,444 6,962
Deticit on disposal of fixed assets - 98
6.444 7,060

Subscriptions and donations 1999 1998
$'000 $'000

Trade organisations’ subscriptions 84 136
Educational and economic research sponsorship - 8
84 144

Surplus af'ter taxation
The surplus after taxation includes a surplus of approximately $4,389,000 (1998: $4,513,000) which
has been dealt with in the accounts of the Chamber

Lease commitments
At 31 December 1999, the group and the Chamber had commitments under operating leases in respect
of properties to make payments in the next year as follows:

1999 1998
$'000 $'000
Leases expiring:
Within one year 1,140 1.955
After one year but within five years 735 1.833
1,875 3.788

Contingent liabilities

As at 31 December 1998 there were contingent liabilities in respect of a guarantee givento a bank by the
Chamber in respect of banking facilities extended to Tradelink amounting to $2,260,000. This guarantee
was released during 1999

Stalf retirement scheme

The Chamber operates a defined contribution staff retirement benefit scheme for all qualifying staff of
the Chamber and its subsidiary. The assets of the scheme are held separately by an investment manager

Contributions applicable to each year are charged to the income and expenditure account for the year
(note 12)

Material related party transactions

During 1998, the Chamber entered into a lease agreement forits investment properties with an association
in which it has the only votiug right at the association’s geueral meetings. The lease term was for three
years from 1 September 1998 onwards at an agreed monthly rental of $189,750 with a rent-free period
of five months at the commencement ofthe Jease.

The Hong Kong Committee of the Pacific Basin Economic Council Limited ("the Association”) is an
association established by the Chamber and to which the Chamber provides certain support services
free of charge. The Chamber also issuied a letter of support which was in force during 1998 for an
unspecified amount to provide financial assistance as is necessary to maintain the Association as a
going concern.

Comparative [igures

The presentation and classification of items in the accounts have been changed due to adoption of the
requirements of SSAP 1 (revised) "Presentation of finaucial statements” and SSAP 24 Accounting for
investments in securities. As a result, marketable securities have been reclassified as non-trading
securities a's required by SSAP 24 and the statement of recognised gains and losses has been prepared
in accordance with SSAP 1 (revised). Comparative figures have been reclassified to conform with the
current year’s presentation. Ceitain comparative figures have also been adjusted as a result of a change
in accounting policy for investment in securities in order to comply with SSAP 24, details of which are
set out in note 1(f).
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AMERICAS COMMITTEE CHINA COMMITTEE
Mr Andrew Yuen Dr Lily Chiang
(Chairman) (Chairman)

Mr H'Y Hung Mrs Cindy Cheng

(Vice Chairman)
Mr John Draheim

(Vice Chairman)

(Vice Chairman) EUROPE COMMITTEE
Mr Manohar Chugh

ARAB & AFRICAN (Chairman)

COMMITTEE Mr Hilton Cheong-Leen

Mr Batrie Cook (Vice Chairmun)

(Chatrman) Mr Michael Dalton

Mr Alistair Macleod (Vice Chairman)

(First Vice Chairman)
Mr Miles Jackson-Lipkin
{Second Vice Chairman)

SHIPPING COMMITTEE
Mr Neil Russell

(Chairman)
ASIA COMMITTEE Caprain Yu Hok Chung
Ms Deborah Annells (Vice Chairman)
(Chairman)
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(Vice Chairman) COMMITTEE
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(Chairman)
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HONG KONG COALITION OF
SERVICE INDUSTRIES

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE
Mr Slanley Ko (Chairman)
Mr Anthony Grif fiths
(Vice Chatrman)

Mr K C Kwok

(Vice Chairman)

Mr Tony Au

Mr Charles Nicholas Brooke
Mr Marshall Byres

Mr Alfred Chan

Mr Garmen Chan

Mr John Chan

Dr W K Chan

Mr fan Christie

Mr Douglas Gautier

Mr Robert Kenny

Mr Denis Wing Kwan Lee
Dr Jane Lee

Mr George Leung

Mr James Lu

Mr Ross Matthews

Dr Shamus C'Y Mok
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Mr David Ruan
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Prof Richard Wong

Mr Roderick B Woe

Dr Eden Woon

Mr K K Yeung
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FINANCIAL SERVICES COMMITTEE
Mr David Ruan (Chairmann)

INFORMATION SERVICES COMMITTEE
Mr Tony Au (Clairmean)

PROFESSIONALSERVICES COMMITTEE
Mr Anthony Griffiths (Chairnan)

REAL ESTATE SERVICES COMMITTEE
Mr Charles Nicholas Brooke
(Chairman)

STATISTICS COMMITTEE
Mr George Leung (Chairnian)

TOURISM COMMITTEE

Mr James Lu (Chairman)

TRANSPORT/INFRASTRUCTURE
COMMITTEE

Mr Yeung Kwok Keung (Chairman)

OVERSEAS SPEAKERS
GROUP

Mr T B Stevenson (Chairman)
Ms Anne Forrest (Vice Chairman)
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The Hong Kong General Chamber of Commerce
T MY G
22/F United Centre, 95 Queensway, Hong Kong
FHREEE I WHE PO 224
Tel (E3%):25299229 Fax ({HE): 2527 9843
Email (& #): chamber@chamber.org.hk
Web site (#41E) : www.chamber.org.hk

PACIFIC BASIN ECONOMIC
COUNCIL - HONG KONG,
CHINA MEMBER COMMITTEE

Mr David G Eldon (Chairman)
MrJ P Lee. se(Vice Chairman)
Mr D W M Fergusson
(Vice Chairman)

Mr Patrick Paul (Treasurer)
Mr John E Strickland
(Tmmediate Past Chairman)
Mr Gareth Chang

Mr Raymund Chao

Mr Po Chung

Mr Thomas J Dufty

Mr Horst F Geicke

Mr James Hughes-Hallett
Mr Lester Kwok

Mr Edward Kwong

Mr Gerry Kay

Mr Lau Kam Wing

Mr Sebastian Man

Mr R W Miller

Mr Ng Siu Fai

Mr Richard Tang

Ms Annic S C Wu

Mr Gordon Y S Wu

Mr Yang Fan Shing

Dr Helmut Sohmen

Miss Marjorie Yang

Mr Allan Zeman
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HONG KONG-TAIPEI
BUSINESS COOPERATION
COMMITTEE

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

Dr Lily Chiang (Chairman)
Mrl P Lee.sp (Vice Chairman)
MrSimon K'Y Lee (Vice Chairmain)
Mr Alfred Au

Mr Raymond Ch’ien

Ms V C Davies

Mr Robert C K Kwok

Mr Lam Kwok Hing

Mr VictorLo

Mr Michel Maisonnial

Mr Patrick Paul

Mr Si Siv Man

Mr Robert A Theleen

Mr Andy H Tseng

Mr C C Tung

Mr Hugh S H Wu

Mr Kong Yam

HONG KONG FRANCHISE
ASSOCIATION COMMITTEE

Mr Eric Chin (Chatrman)
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chamber.org.hk

22/F United Centre, 95 Queensway, Hong Kong
s &S 95 BEAE b 22
Tel (3} )2 2529 9229 Fax 1'% : 2527 9843
Email (5 5): chamber@chamber.org.hk  Web site (411:): www.chamber.org.hk






